E APR 05 206 SUPREME COURTE

No. 92970.0

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 73199-8-I King County Superior Court Cause No. 15-2-04826-1 SEA

MARCUS & MILLICHAP REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT SERVICES OF SEATTLE, INC., a California corporation, plaintiff, Appellant,

v.

YATES, WOOD & MACDONALD, INC., a Washington corporation, defendant, Respondent.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANT MARCUS & MILLICHAP REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT SERVICES OF SEATTLE, INC.

Michael T. Callan, WSBA #16237 Joshua D. Brittingham, WSBA #42061 Peterson Russell Kelly PLLC Attorneys for Appellant

10900 NE Fourth Street, Suite 1850 Bellevue, WA 98004-8341 425-462-4700

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Investment Services of Seattle, Inc. ("Marcus & Millichap"), Appellant in the Court of Appeals and Defendant in the Trial Court, respectfully requests that this Court review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II, *infra*.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Marcus & Millichap seeks review of the Court of Appeals Published Opinion in *Marcus & Millichap, Appellant, v. Yates, Wood & Macdonald, Inc., Respondent*, No. 73199-8-I, Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, filed February 1, 2016 (the "Opinion)" (CP 235-38), a copy of which included as part of the Appendix.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is a member of a voluntary professional organization bound by a mandatory arbitration clause contained within the organizational bylaws solely by virtue of participation as a member of the organization based on *Keith Adams & Associates, Inc. v. Edwards*, a 1970 Division Three decision decided under the former Arbitration Act, RCW Ch. 7.04, where the party seeking to compel arbitration cannot produce a "record"

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Keith Adams & Associates, Inc. v. Edwards, 3 Wash. App. 623, 625, 477 P.2d 36, 38 (1970) disapproved of by Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., 142 Wash. 2d 885, 16 P.3d 617 (2001).

which evidences the parties' unambiguous intent to be bound by the arbitration clause in relation to their membership relationship as required by the operative Uniform Arbitration Act, RCW Ch. 7.04A (effective January 1, 2006 and applying retroactively)?

2. Even if there is an enforceable agreement requiring members of a commercial real estate multiple listing organization to arbitrate *some* disputes with the organization, should the parties be compelled to arbitrate a dispute involving a transaction in which the subject property was not listed or otherwise sold through the organization and is therefore outside of the scope of membership in such organization?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marcus & Millichap is a real estate brokerage firm specializing in real estate investment sales and financing. *See* Decl. Deis, ¶ 3. (CP 24) Yates, Wood & Macdonald, Inc. ("Yates"), Respondent in the Court of Appeals and Plaintiff in the Trial Court, is a real estate brokerage and property management firm. (CP 23, 117) Both firms have historically received the benefits of membership in a commercial real estate multiple listing service known as the Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA"). *See* Decl. Mills Clement, ¶ 2. (CP 66)

On the merits, Yates seeks one half of the commission earned by Marcus & Millichap on the sale of the Ticino Apartments located in Seattle, WA (the "Property") pursuant to an exclusive representation agreement ("Exclusive Representation Agreement") between Marcus & Millichap and Goetzinger Family LLP ("Seller") dated July 31, 2014. *See* Decl. Deis, ¶ 8. (CP 26). Yates had no agreement with the Seller to broker the Property and had no agreement with Marcus & Millichap for cooperate brokerage of the Property. *See* Decl. Moll, ¶ 9.3 (CP 179).

The Property was not listed for sale through CBA and consequently CBA was uninvolved in the marketing or sale of the Property. *See* Decl. Deis, ¶ 9. (CP 26).

Despite the lack of an arbitration agreement between the parties, and the lack of involvement by CBA, Yates initiated an arbitration proceeding with the CBA seeking a portion of the commission. *See* Decl. Moll, ¶9. (CP 179) Over Marcus & Millichap's objection, CBA then scheduled an arbitration proceeding for March 23, 2015. *See* Decl. Deis, ¶15. (CP 28) To preserve its rights, Marcus & Millichap submitted an Answer in the proceedings. (CP 116-21)

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondent Yates is a real estate brokerage and property management firm. (CP 23, 117) Yates was the property manager for the Property at the time Marcus & Millichap entered into the Exclusive Representation Agreement with the Seller. (CP 117)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For a more detailed factual rendition, please see Appellant's Opening Brief at pages 4-7, incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

Upon confirming the lack of any membership application or other agreement under which Marcus & Millichap agreed to arbitration, Marcus & Millichap demanded that CBA terminate the arbitration proceedings. See Decl. Deis, ¶ 15. (CP 28) When CBA refused, Marcus & Millichap thereafter initiated the underlying declaratory action in King County Superior Court seeking to stay the arbitration proceedings on the grounds that there is no valid arbitration agreement between the parties and Marcus & Millichap is not bound by the Mandatory Arbitration Clause contained in the CBA bylaws (and, therefore, that CBA lacked jurisdiction over the parties and the transaction which is the subject of this dispute). (CP 1-5) On March 16, 2015, the Trial Court entered Orders compelling arbitration and denying Marcus & Millichap's motion to stay arbitration. (CP 235-38)

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Overview of grounds for acceptance of review.

As set forth in Section V(B), *infra*, this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' erroneous application of *Keith Adams* conflicts with the recent 2012 Washington Supreme Court decisions in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CBA had threatened litigation to compel Marcus & Millichap to proceed with the arbitration of Yates' claim. See Decl. Mott., ¶ 5 and Ex. A. (CP 30-35)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Marcus & Millichap timely appealed these decisions. (CP 232-33)

Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wash. 2d 451, 461-62, 268 P.3d 917, 922 (2012) and Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., 142 Wash. 2d 885, 16 P.3d 617 (2001) (partially disapproving Keith Adams & Associates, Inc., 3 Wash. App. at 625 disapproved of by Godfrey, 142 Wash. 2d 885). See RAP 13.4(b)(1). Section V(C), infra, establishes that review by this Court is also warranted because the Opinion is in conflict with two Court of Appeals decisions, Stein v. Geonerco, Inc., 105 Wash. App. 41, 46, 17 P.3d 1266, 1269 (2001) and Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wash. App. 393, 397, 111 P.3d 282, 284 (2005). See RAP 13.4(b)(2). Finally, Section V(D), infra, demonstrates that review is further warranted based on the substantial public interest in establishing a bright-line test for determining whether a dispute is arbitrable by requiring a party seeking to compel arbitration to produce an "agreement to arbitrate" contained in a "record per RCW 7.04A.060(1) and RCW 7.04A.010(7). See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

- B. The Opinion conflicts with this Court's Townsend and Godfrey decisions by binding Marcus & Millichap to the Mandatory Arbitration Clause in the CBA Bylaws based solely on Marcus & Millichap's participation as a member of the CBA, despite the absence of a record evidencing an intent on the part of Marcus & Millichap to be bound by the Mandatory Arbitration Clause in relation to their membership.
  - 1. The Uniform Arbitration Act imposed a new requirement that a party seeking to compel arbitration must produce a "record" evidencing a party's unambiguous intent to be bound by a mandatory arbitration clause in conjunction with their membership relationship.

Unlike its predecessor, the current/operative Uniform Arbitration Act requires a party seeking to compel arbitration to produce a "record", *i.e.*, a writing, which contains an enforceable agreement to arbitrate. *See* RCW 7.04A.010(7); *cf.* RCW Ch. 7.04. The Opinion erroneously failed to acknowledge that Yates cannot satisfy this threshold requirement.

The failure to agree on mere details will not vitiate a contract, but the failure to prove agreement on material terms will. *Sea-Van Investments Associates v. Hamilton*, 125 Wash. 2d 120, 128, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Uniform Arbitration Act is the operative act because it retroactively "governs agreements to arbitrate even if the arbitration agreement was entered into before January 1, 2006. See RCW 7.04A.030(2); see also Optimer Int'l, Inc. v. RP Bellevue, LLC, 151 Wash. App. 954, 960, 214 P.3d 954, 956 (2009) (subsequent history omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CBA has confirmed there is no record of an agreement with Marcus & Millichap authorizing it to arbitrate disputes with other brokers. See February 13, 2013 9:45 a.m. E-mail from Osborn to Mott (CP 33); see also Decl. Moll, ¶ 9. (CP 179) Marcus & Millichap requested evidence of any such agreement from CBA when Yates initiated the arbitration proceedings. See February 11, 2015 2:06 p.m. E-mail from Mott to Osborn (CP 34). No such agreement to arbitrate has been produced. See Decls. Deis, ¶ 12 (CP 27), Morasch, ¶ 5 (CP 208), and Mott, ¶ 4, Ex. A (CP 30, 33).

For a contract to form, the parties must objectively manifest their mutual assent to all material terms of the agreement. *P.E. Sys., LLC v. CPI Corp.*, 176 Wash. 2d 198, 209, 289 P.3d 638, 644 (2012). Moreover, the terms assented to must be sufficiently definite. *Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wash. 2d 171, 177-78, 94 P.3d 945, 949 (2004).

These contract principals reveal that it is insufficient for Yates to establish only that Marcus & Millichap entered into some sort of agreement with CBA (and/or its members). *Keystone Land & Development Co.*, 152 Wash. 2d 171 or that it voluntarily utilized CBA's services. Rather, Yates must specifically provide a record which evidences an intent on the part of Marcus & Millichap to be bound, as a material term, to arbitrate disputes involving CBA and/or its members. *Id.* Yates cannot do so.

Here, again, there is no evidence that Marcus & Millichap consented to the mandatory terms of CBA's arbitration provisions. There is no evidence that any agreement related to arbitration was presented to Marcus & Millichap, discussed or consented to in any fashion. Again, despite Yates' claims that every CBA member is required to complete an application which includes the applicant's agreement to arbitrate, Yates has failed to produce even **one** agreement to arbitrate completed by **any** Marcus & Millichap agent. Surprisingly, it has also failed to produce any

agreement between Yates and CBA or any other purported CBA member under which it agreed to arbitrate disputes. Consequently, there is no evidence of any terms or conditions of any agreement, leaving the court to guess at what any agreement might be.

Likewise, despite utilizing its services, there is no evidence that Marcus & Millichap ever applied for membership in the Commercial Broker's Association ("CBA") in 1993 as alleged (CP 67), or that Marcus & Millichap expressly agreed to arbitrate any and all disputes with other CBA members or agreed to the other provisions of CBA's Articles of Incorporation Bylaws and Rules and Regulations. Beyond the unsupported claim of recently hired CBA Executive Director/CEO Michelle Mills Clement that "[n]o applicant becomes a member or associate member of CBA" without agreeing to be bound by "CBA's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules & Regulations", the record on appeal is devoid of evidence or testimony establishing that Marcus & Millichap, Yates or any other claimed member prepared, submitted, signed or otherwise agreed to the "required" membership application, was advised that they were subject to CBA's bylaws or entered into an agreement to be bound by such provisions. See Decl. Mills Clement at 2, ¶¶ 4. (CP 67) (CP 1-238). So although Yates and CBA claim its bylaws mandate that all members sign applications which bind them to the obligation to arbitrate, CBA

apparently ignores its own bylaws by failing to require every member to prepare and execute such an application. Despite this glaring omission, CBA attempts to bind its members to rules and regulations which were never disclosed, discussed or agreed to.

Not only is there no signed contract, there is no record whatsoever: no written agreement, no draft agreement, no e-mail referring to an agreement and no claimed oral agreement. In fact, even Yates could not produce a copy of the CBA application under which Yates allegedly became a CBA member and which Yates claims constitutes an agreement to arbitrate, let alone a copy of even one membership application executed by any Marcus & Millichap agent.

The two Marcus & Millichap agents involved in the transaction at issue have never seen or executed any agreement with CBA. See Decls. Moll, ¶¶ 5-6 (CP 178) and Morasch, ¶ 5 (CP 208). Further, in the many years that Marcus & Millichap and its agents have provided brokerage services in the greater Seattle area, CBA has never requested or required a managing broker or any agent to acknowledge in writing or otherwise agree to be bound by its arbitration provisions. See Decls. Mott, ¶¶ 4-5 (CP 30), Deis, ¶ 7 (CP 26) and Morasch, ¶ 5 (CP 208).

Moreover, the only signed agreements Yates has placed in the record (Broker Roster Updates)<sup>8</sup> (CP 128-33) contain no reference to compliance with CBA bylaws or required arbitration. (CP 128-33) The Broker Roster Updates specifically state that Marcus & Millichap and CBA agree to two provisions: an "Agreement Not To Disclose" related to use of its website password and "Penalties" for disclosure of such website password. (CP 128-33) Notably absent is any agreement that Marcus & Millichap is compelled to arbitrate any disputes or be bound by CBA's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Rules & Regulations. (CP 128-33)

Given the lack of any written record containing an agreement between the parties to arbitrate, the trial court should have denied Yates' request to compel arbitration of this dispute. The position is supported by the plain language of the Brokerage Membership Definitions Section of the January 2007 CBA Bylaws, which provide, in part, as follows:

Applications for membership **shall** be on the Association's standard form, and shall include an undertaking on the part of the applicant to abide by the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Rules of the Association and amendments thereto.

See Decl. Mills Clement, Ex. 1, Bylaws at 1. (CP 71) (emphasis added)

<sup>8</sup> The record on appeal does not establish or even address the authenticity of these documents or the signatures thereon. (CP 1-238) Marcus & Millichap reserves the right to address these issues on remand in any future proceedings.

10

An "undertaking" is "a promise or agreement to do or not do something". Thus, even the CBA Bylaws contemplate the requirement for brokerage members (i.e., such as Yates and Marcus & Millichap) to affirmatively promise or agree to be bound by the CBA Bylaws in addition to the act of applying for membership. Again, there is no evidence of a record containing an undertaking or promise by Marcus & Millichap to be bound by the with respect to the mandatory arbitration clause other than the mere fact of membership in CBA.

In short, the Uniform Arbitration Act requires that a party seeking to compel arbitration must produce a "record" which evidences the parties' unambiguous intent to be bound by the arbitration clause in their membership relationship. *See* RCW 7.04A.010(7); *cf.* RCW Ch. 7.04.

2. The Uniform Arbitration Act imposed a new requirement that a party seeking to compel arbitration must produce a "record" which evidences the parties' unambiguous intent to be bound by the arbitration clause in their membership relationship

The Court of Appeals erred by relying principally on *Keith Adams* & *Associates, Inc.*, 3 Wash. App. at 625 disapproved of in part by the opinion of this Court in *Godfrey*, 142 Wash. 2d 885, for the proposition that the mere act of applying to be a member in an association (such as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, available at http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/undertaking.

CBA) always binds the putative member to all aspects of the association's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, including any mandatory arbitration clause contained therein. *See* Opinion at 10-17. Ultimately, *Keith Adams* is distinguishable because it is a 1970 case which interpreted the former Uniform Arbitration Act, RCW Ch. 7.04 (repealed in 2006), rather than the operative Uniform Arbitration Act codified under RCW Ch. 7.04A.

Relying principally on *Keith Adams*, the Opinion effectively rewrites the above-referenced Uniform Arbitration Act by eviscerating the requirement of establishing a valid "agreement to arbitrate" contained in a "record"—contrary to the plain language of the operative Uniform Arbitration Act. *See* RCW 7.04A.010(7). In particular, the Court of Appeals erroneously misplaced reliance on *Keith Adams* for the proposition that the mere act of applying to be a member in an association (such as CBA) always binds the putative member to the association's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations. *See* Opinion at 10.

In support, the Opinion provides claims without documentary support that its bylaws require all applicants to complete a form "that includes the applicant's agreement to abide by CBA's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules & Regulations, and amendments thereto."

See Decl. Mills Clement, ¶ 4. (CP 67) And yet, Yates has not (and apparently cannot) provide a copy of any application form for Marcus & Millichap, any of its agents, for Yates or any other putative CBA member.

Keith Adams provides, in part, as follows:

Both defendant and plaintiff's president, in applying for membership with the Tri-City Board of Realtors, Inc., agreed to conform to the bylaws of the board which provided for the settlement of future disputes between members by arbitration.

Keith Adams & Associates, Inc., 3 Wash. App. at 625.

The above excerpt establishes that the *Keith Adams* court made the factual determination, presumably supported by substantial evidence, that both members had agreed to arbitration at the outset and in conjunction with applying for membership, *i.e.*, that "in applying for membership" the applicant/member had also "agreed to conform to the bylaws..." *Keith Adams & Associates, Inc.*, 3 Wash. App. at 625.

It follows that the result in *Keith Adams* does not govern this dispute in which there is no record containing evidence that Marcus & Millichap agreed to be bound to the mandatory arbitration clause within CBA's bylaws at the time it began using CBA's listing service (or thereafter). (CP 1-238) Yates' inability to provide a copy of the required "form" application or any other record of an application, combined with Marcus & Millichap's testimony that no such form or other agreement was

ever completed or signed supports the determination that Marcus & Millichap did not enter into an agreement to arbitrate disputes involving CBA members.

Keith Adams is also distinguishable because the member there sought to vacate an arbitration award after the member had "voluntarily submitted to arbitration" and participated in the entire arbitration process. Keith Adams & Associates, Inc., 3 Wash. App. at 625-26 disapproved of by Godfrey, 142 Wash. 2d 885. Neither circumstance is present here—Marcus & Millichap filed an answer in the arbitration to prevent any default, timely objected to arbitration and filed the underlying lawsuit seeking a determination that arbitration is not proper prior to any arbitration proceeding.

As a result, the Opinion improperly relied on *Keith Adams* (again, a 1970 Division Three decision) because *Keith Adams* is in conflict with the recent 2012 Washington Supreme Court decision in *Townsend*, 173 Wash. 2d at 461-62. *Townsend* emphasizes the principal that to be valid an agreement to arbitrate must generally be signed. *Townsend*, 173 Wn. 2d at 61 (*quoting Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wash. 2d 781, 790, 225 P.3d 213, 219 (2009)). Again, there is no evidence that any

application which purportedly contains the agreement to arbitrate exists, let alone a copy signed by Marcus & Millichap. 10

Likewise, the Opinion is directly at odds with the principle announced by this Court that the parties to a purported arbitration agreement cannot "fundamentally alter" the provisions of the Uniform Arbitration Act. *Godfrey*, 142 Wash. 2d at 897 (partially disapproving *Keith Adams & Associates, Inc.*, 3 Wash. App. 623) (deciding under former arbitration act, RCW Ch. 7.04). Because the Opinion conflicts with *Keith Adams* and *Godfrey*, this Court should accept review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. Even if Marcus & Millichap has agreed to arbitrate some disputes involving the CBA or its members, the Opinion conflicts with the Stein v. Geonerco, Inc. and Venwest Yachts Division One decisions because the underlying commission dispute stems from a transaction that does not involve a CBA listing or otherwise relate to the CBA and is therefore beyond the scope of CBA's Mandatory Arbitration Clause.

Assuming (but not conceding) that Marcus & Millichap agreed to arbitrate *some* disputes involving CBA and its members, the trial court erred because Yates cannot establish that this dispute is within the scope of any such agreement to arbitrate. *Stein*, 105 Wash. App. at 46. In this

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Notably, the Washington Supreme Court determined that the Division 3 *Keith Adams* court erred by incorrectly determining that parties could waive the right to seek vacation, modification, or correction of an arbitration award in the superior court under the (prior) Uniform Arbitration Act, RCW. Ch. 7.04. *Optimer Intern.*, *Inc.*, 170 Wash. 2d at 773.

regard, the Opinion conflicts with the Division One decision in *Stein*, 105 Wash. App. at 46, which provides that "[a]s a rule, a contractual dispute is arbitrable unless the court can say with positive assurance that no interpretation of the arbitration clause could cover the particular dispute." *Stein*, 105 Wash. App. at 46 (citing *Kamaya Co. v. Am. Prop. Consultants, Ltd.*, 91 Wash. App. 703, 714, 959 P.2d 1140, 1145 (1998)).

The Property which is the subject of the underlying proceedings and for which Yates seeks a commission was never listed with CBA. (CP 26) Moreover, CBA had no involvement with the listing of the Property and no involvement in the sale of the Property whatsoever. (CP 27) CBA's rules and regulations related to arbitration of commission disputes between brokers cannot apply when Marcus & Millichap has not contracted with CBA for this purpose and the Property subject to this claim was never listed with CBA.<sup>11</sup>

In this regard, Marcus & Millichap's agents are independent contractors that are hired and paid on a contractual basis. *See* Decls. Deis, ¶ 3 (CP 25), Moll ¶ 3 (CP 177), *and* Morasch, ¶ 3 (CP 207-08). As

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It is also noteworthy that Marcus & Millichap purportedly joined CBA in 1993 and agreed to be bound by a mandatory arbitration provision contained in CBA's bylaws. Even if accepted as true, there is no evidence such bylaws would encompass this dispute. The only version of the bylaws in the record are dated 2007. (CP 71-19) The record lacks evidence of the terms of the purported agreement to arbitration which Marcus & Millichap allegedly entered into in 1993.

independent contractors, Marcus & Millichap's agents choose to be members of a variety of real estate organizations and use a variety of online tools to sell property. *Id.* Some agree to be members of CBA. Others do not. For example, Marcus & Millichap has 29 agents listed in the Seattle office. Of those 29 agents, only 18 were listed as members of CBA as of March 5, 2015. *See* Decl. of Clement, \$\quad 8\$ and Ex. 5. (CP 68, 105-08).

Further, even had they signed agreements with CBA (which they did not) (CP 177-79, 207-10), as independent contractors Marcus & Millichap agents have no authority to bind Marcus & Millichap to CBA rules simply because of their membership with CBA. (CP 25) Mr. Morasch, one of two Marcus & Millichap agents that earned a commission in this transaction, previously paid a fee to use the CBA listing services, *i.e.*, prior to his termination from CBA. *See* Decl. Mott, ¶ 5 and Ex. A. (CP 30-32) However there is no evidence that he has ever received or signed an application or other agreement with CBA, has ever been advised that his membership obligates him to arbitrate disputes and has ever been provided or reviewed CBA's bylaws, rules or regulations. (CP 207-10)

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