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

IV. ARGUMENT 

None of the limited circumstances warranting this Court's review of 

a Court of Appeals' decision exist here. See RAP 13 .4(b ). Contrary to 
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Marcus & Millichap's argument, the Court of Appeals' decision is 

consistent with this Court's holdings in Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 

Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012), and Godfrey v. Har(ford Cas. Ins. Co., 

142 Wn.2d 885, 16 P.3d 617 (2001). Townsend and Godfrey announced 

general principles of arbitration that are fully in line with the Court of 

Appeals' decision. 

The Court of Appeals' decision is also consistent with prior Court 

of Appeals' decisions regarding the scope of an arbitration clause, including 

Stein v. Geonerco, Inc., 105 Wn. App. 41, 17 P.3d 1266 (2001), and Todd 

v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. 393, 111 P.3d 282 (2005). Stein set 

forth the general principle that arbitration clauses should be interpreted 

broadly, supporting the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the arbitration 

clause in CBA's bylaws readily encompassed the dispute at hand. Stein, 105 

Wn. App. at 46. Todd is easily distinguishable because it involved a dispute 

regarding an employment relationship that was non-existent at the time the 

parties joined the association at issue and the parties necessarily could not 

have intended the association's arbitration provision to apply. Todd, 127 

Wn. App. at 399. Here, in contrast, the dispute is precisely the type of 

dispute contemplated by the CBA Bylaws and that the parties intended to 

be covered. 
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Finally, no substantial public interest would be served by this 

Court's review. The case presents a relatively narrow issue and the Court of 

Appeals' decision set a bright-line, easy-to-apply rule in a published 

opinion. This Court should deny the Petition for Review. 

A. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) because the 
Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the general 
principles of arbitration set forth by the Supreme Court in 
Townsend and Godfrey. 

The Court should reject Marcus & Millichap's ill-disguised attempt 

to characterize its disagreement with the Court of Appeals' reasoning as a 

conflict with this Court's decisions in Townsend, 173 Wn.2d 451, and 

Godfrey, 142 Wn.2d 885. In nine pages of argument that the Petition for 

Review ostensibly dedicates to the conflict with Supreme Court caselaw, 

only the last two paragraphs actually discuss the Townsend and Godfrey 

decisions or to try explain the purported conflict with them. (See Petition 

for Review at 6-15.) The Court should not be misled by the mislabeling of 

Marcus & Millichap's argument as in conflict with this Court's holdings. 

Even a cursory examination shows that the holdings of Townsend 

and Godfrey support-rather than conflict with-the Court of Appeals' 

decision. Marcus & Millichap argues that the Court of Appeals' decision 

conflicts with the principle articulated in Townsend that: "to be valid an 

agreement to arbitrate must generally be signed." (Petition for Review at 
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14.) But there are exceptions to the general rule, and Townsend went on to 

identify those exceptions and to apply one to the parties in that case. !d. at 

461. Specifically, the Court in Townsend held that plaintiffs whose parents 

signed Purchase and Sale Agreements ("PSAs") containing arbitration 

clauses, but who did not sign the agreements themselves, were nonetheless 

bound to arbitrate when they later attempted to enforce the terms of the 

PSAs. !d. at 461-62. Because the plaintiffs knowingly exploited the PSAs, 

they could not later avoid the arbitration clause within them. !d. at 462. 

Consistent with Townsend's holding, the Court of Appeals held in this case 

that Marcus & Millichap could not knowingly exploit the benefits of CBA 

membership for over two decades, then avoid the arbitration clause 

contained in CBA 's Bylaws. 

The Court of Appeals' decision also does not conflict with the 

footnote in Godfrey observing that parties may not "fundamentally alter" 

the provisions of the U AA by agreement-the second basis for the alleged 

conflict. See Petition for Review at 15 (quoting Godfrey, 142 Wn.2d at 897 

n.8). The footnote in Godfrey supported the holding that an arbitration 

provision may not provide that an award is not binding if the parties disagree 

with the result, as such an agreement would fundamentally alter the UAA's 

statutory scheme. !d. at 896-97. No such agreement exists in this case. 
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In fact, the Court of Appeals' holding is wholly consistent with the 

UAA. (Slip Op. at 13-14.) The UAA provides that an arbitration agreement 

must be "contained in a record" to be enforceable. RCW 7.04A.060. A 

record is "information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is 

stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable 

form." RCW 7 .04A.O 1 0(7). This provision does not require a signed 

agreement, the Court of Appeals explained, and was satisfied in this case by 

the record of the CBA Bylaws, which were submitted in the court record 

and available on CBA's website. (Slip Op. at 13-14.) No conflict with 

Godfrey exists. 

Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with a 

Washington State Supreme Court decision, review is not warranted under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1 ). 

B. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the 
Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the Court of 
Appeals' decisions in Stein and Todd. 

Marcus & Millichap's contention that the Court of Appeals' 

decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decisions in Stein, 105 Wn. 

App. 41, and Todd, 127 Wn. App. 393, is unpersuasive. The Court of 

Appeals correctly concluded the underlying dispute in this case was within 

the scope of CBA's broad arbitration provision under the rules set forth in 

both these cases. 
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Marcus & Millichap concedes that Stein sets a liberal standard for 

interpreting the scope of an arbitration clause: "[ a]s a rule, a contractual 

dispute is arbitrable unless the court can say with positive assurance that no 

interpretation of the arbitration clause could cover the particular dispute." 

Petition for Review at 16, citing Stein, 105 Wn. App. at 46. The arbitration 

clause in Stein required arbitration of any "unresolved dispute" between the 

parties. Stein, 105 Wn. App. at 46. The agreement contained conflicting 

definitions of"unresolved dispute," one of which was "all claims, demands, 

disputes, controversies, and differences that may arise between the 

parties .... " !d. The Court refused to interpret the second, narrower 

definition as limiting the arbitration clause's broad scope and held that the 

trial court erred in denying the motion to compel arbitration. !d. at 46-47. 

Here, no reasonable interpretation of CBA's arbitration clause 

would not encompass the dispute between Yates and Marcus & Millichap. 

The arbitration clause provides that CBA members and former members 

must arbitrate "all controversies involving commissions." (CP 77.) Yates's 

claim is that it is owed one-half of the commission taken by Marcus & 

Millichap on the sale of an apartment complex. (CP 112-14, 116-21.) The 

broad language of CBA 's arbitration clause covers this dispute. As the 

Court of Appeals correctly observed, "[i]t is inconsequential that the 
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Property was never listed with the CBA ... because the plain language ofthe 

arbitration agreement is not so limited." (Slip Op. at 15-16.) 

Todd, in which the Court of Appeals concluded a dispute was 

outside the scope of an arbitration clause, is readily distinguishable from the 

instant case. In Todd, the plaintiff and defendant independently became 

members of the Northwest Yacht Broker's Association ("NYBA"), a 

voluntary association that required arbitration of disputes among members. 

Todd, 127 Wn. App. at 395-96, 399. After becoming members, plaintiff and 

defendant entered into an unrelated employment contract that did not 

incorporate or mention the NYBA arbitration clause. !d. at 396. The court 

concluded the arbitration clause did not cover the parties' dispute regarding 

compensation for plaintiffs employment because, "[a]t the times [plaintiff] 

and [defendant] each joined the NYBA, neither could have intended that the 

NYBA's arbitration clause would apply to their then-unknown employment 

relationship.... [T]he NYBA . . . is not concerned with its members' 

employment relationship." !d. at 399. 

Here, in contrast with Todd, the dispute between Yates and Marcus 

& Millichap is precisely the type the arbitration clause is intended to 

address. A "controvers[y] involving commissions" between these CBA 

members is precisely the type of dispute that the arbitration clause applies 

to, as is illustrated by its plain language. 
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To support its claim that it did not intend to arbitrate disputes like 

this one, Marcus & Millichap submitted an evasive and misleading 

declaration of its regional manager, Joel Deis. Mr. Deis made sworn 

statements such as that he "[d]oes not believe Marcus & Millichap is a 

member of [the CBA]," and that he has "never previously seen or been 

provided a CBA application form or other document which requires that 

members of CBA resolve broker disputes through arbitration with CBA." 

(CP 26; see also Slip Op. at 12-13 (discussing Deis's declaration).) As the 

Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, "[d]espite these hedged assertions, 

the record shows that Deis, as Marcus & Millichap's 'authorized broker' 

entitled to act on behalf of Marcus & Millichap, has completed numerous 

'Broker Roster Updates' using Marcus & Millichap's unique 'CBA Office 

ID' number." (Slip Op. at 12.) The Court went on to conclude: 

Deis's carefully crafted, prevaricating assertions do not 
rebut or even contradict the direct evidence of Marcus & 
Millichap's status as a CBA member . 

. . . Marcus & Millichap previously evidenced awareness of 
the CBA bylaws and attempted to utilize the bylaw 
provision in its favor. Marcus & Millichap cannot escape its 
obligation to arbitrate this dispute by submitting 
declarations in which witnesses artfully set forth their 
ignorance of reality. 

(Slip Op. at 13.) 

-15-
1277364.03 



Because no conflict exists between the Court of Appeals' decision 

tn this case and any other Court of Appeals' decision, review is not 

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

C. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the 
Court of Appeals' decision does not involve an issue of 
substantial public interest and it set a clear, bright-line rule. 

A case involves an issue of "substantial public interest" where it 

affects individuals and cases beyond the parties to the particular proceeding. 

See State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). The issue 

of whether a member of a voluntary organization is bound to an arbitration 

provision in the organization's bylaws is a narrow one. It appears that no 

Washington appellate court has addressed this specific issue since the Keith 

Adams decision in 1970. The Court of Appeals' holding is also consistent 

with a substantial body of Jaw governing the arbitrability of disputes. 

Marcus & Millichap offers no reason to believe the issue is of substantial 

public interest. Rather, Marcus & Millichap ignores that the CBA 

arbitration provision is contained in a "record" within the meaning of the 

UAA, as the Court of Appeals properly concluded, and falsely argues that 

the Court of Appeals' opinion eviscerates the requirement of such a record. 

(Petition for Review at 19.) The Court of Appeals' opinion does no such 

thing. 
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Marcus & Millichap also argues that there is a substantial public 

interest in creating a "bright line" rule. (Petition for Review at 19.) But the 

rule set forth by the Court of Appeals is clear: a voluntary member of an 

association assets to and is bound by an arbitration provision in the 

association's bylaws. This straightforward rule makes no change in the 

existing law of arbitrability, as it was set forth in Keith Adams over forty 

years earlier. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

D. Yates should be awarded its costs for answering the Petition for 
Review pursuant to RAP 18.l(j). 

RAP 18.1 U) provides, "[i]f attorney fees and expenses are awarded 

to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for 

review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney 

fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation 

and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review." Yates was 

awarded its costs by the Court of Appeals. Slip Op. at 17 n.14. Yates 

therefore requests that this Court award its costs upon denying the Petition 

for Review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington law, 

which favors arbitration and broadly interprets the scope of arbitration 
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clauses. The decision does not present an issue of substantial public interest. 

This Court should deny the Petition for Review. 

1277364 OJ 
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The attached document is for filing in the following case: 

Case Name: Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Investment Services of Seattle, Inc., Appellant v. Yates, Wood & 

MacDonald, Inc., Respondent 

Case Number: 73199-8-I 

Filed By: Shannon Lawless, 206-464-4224, WSBA No. 43385 
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in them. If you have received this communication in error, please 
notify this firm immediately by reply to this communication or by 
calling toll free 800-458-5973 or if International collect 
at (206) 464-4224.